ATP-dependent Chromatin Remodeling Enzymes and their Various Roles in Cell Cycle Control

Stefano Morettini, Valerie Podhraski, Alexandra Lusser

Division of Molecular Biology, Biocenter, Innsbruck Medical University, Fritz-Pregl Strasse 3, A-6020 Innsbruck, Austria

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Multi-level action of chromatin remodeling factors in cell cycle control
- 4. Global chromatin remodeling
 - 4.1. DNA Replication
 - 4.2. Replication-coupled chromatin assembly
 - 4.3. Chromatin remodeling factors and mitosis
 - 4.4. DNA repair
- 5. Gene specific functions of ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling factors in cell cycle regulation
 - 5.1. SWI/SNF complexes and E2F target gene regulation
 - 5.2. Regulation of the kinase inhibitor p21
 - 5.3. Distinct roles of the SNF5 subunit of SWI/SNF complexes in cell cycle regulation
 - 5.4. Mechanistic basis of SWI/SNF mediated cell cycle regulation
- 6. Regulation of chromatin remodeling factors
- 7. Perspectives
- 8. Acknowledgments
- 9. References

1. ABSTRACT

The modification of chromatin structure by various mechanisms has emerged as a key regulatory component of nuclear programs. Cell cycle progression and exit are affected by the integrity of chromatin architecture as well as by regulatory cues that chromatin structure imposes on the expression of cell cycle genes. ATPdependent chromatin remodeling factors use the energy derived from ATP-hydrolysis to modulate histone-DNA contacts. These molecular machines play important roles in all aspects of chromosome biology and are thus intimately linked to cell cycle control. Regulation of complex activity by various signaling pathways has been a rising theme in recent years. Moreover, some chromatin remodeling factors have been characterized as potent tumor suppressor proteins. Thus, to understand the functions and activities of ATP-utilizing chromatin remodeling factors is an important goal towards their use as potential targets in cancer therapy.

2. INTRODUCTION

In eukaryotes, DNA and the histone proteins H2A, H2B, H3, H4 associate to form the nucleosome, which is the basic building block of chromatin. Chromatin not only functions to compact the genetic material but also contributes to the regulation of nuclear processes. Different strategies have evolved by which chromatin architecture can be modulated in the course of transcription, replication, recombination or repair. For instance, posttranslational covalent modifications of histones alter the biochemical properties of chromatin as well as generate signals that specify the functional state of a genomic region (1-4). Histone variants and non-histone chromosomal proteins are incorporated to modify the structure and activity of chromatin (5-8). Moreover, ATP-powered molecular machines known as chromatin remodeling factors serve to modify chromatin structure by modulating histone-DNA contacts. Their action results in repositioning, removal or



Figure 1. ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling factors affect cell cycle regulation at multiple levels. Chromatin remodeling complexes are integral components of genome-wide-acting processes, such as DNA replication, DNA damage repair and chromosome condensation and cohesion. Moreover, these factors are also involved in controlling the expression of cell cycle regulatory factors. The SWI/SNF, CHD, ISWI and INO80 subclasses of SNF2-related chromatin remodeling factors are depicted. The members of these subfamilies that are discussed in this article are listed. Protein complexes are in green, ATPase subunits are in black.

assembly of nucleosomes. In this manner, chromatin remodeling factors affect the composition of a nucleosome and regulate higher-order chromatin structure (9-14). Hence, in spite of the inherent stability that is conferred to the nucleosome through multiple histone-DNA contacts (15), chromatin is a highly dynamic entity that varies in structure throughout the cell cycle.

In this review, we will discuss the role of ATPdependent chromatin remodeling machines in cell cycle control. We will distinguish between their functions in global processes, such as DNA replication, chromosome cohesion, or DNA repair, and their activity in the specific regulation of cell division cycle genes. We will also integrate current knowledge about the cell cycle dependent regulation of the remodeling factors themselves.

3. MULTI-LEVEL ACTION OF CHROMATIN REMODELING FACTORS IN CELL CYCLE CONTROL

ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling factors are typically organized in multiprotein complexes. Their catalytic subunits belong to the SNF2 family of ATPases that are structurally related to *S. cerevisiae* Swi2/Snf2 protein (16, 17). Based on sequence similarities in their ATPase domains and according to the presence or absence of additional protein motifs outside of the ATPase domain 24 SNF2 subfamilies have been defined (18). The SWI/SNF, ISWI, CHD and INO80 ATPases have been studied most extensively. There are considerable variations in complex composition within each subfamily. For example, in humans, multiple SWI/SNF complexes with partially overlapping subunit composition can co-exist in a cell, and it is not yet clear whether they have distinct or redundant functions (for details about remodeling complex composition see 19, 20). The non-SNF2-family subunits in these complexes have diverse functions that include recruitment to the sites of action, interaction with other proteins and direct modulation of the properties of the ATPase (14, 21, 22).

Over the past decade, research has shed light on the roles of chromatin remodeling factors and their participation in various pathways of cell cycle control. It has become apparent that chromatin remodeling factors operate at different levels to affect cell cycle progression. On one hand, they engage in processes that preserve general chromatin integrity, such as chromosome duplication, sister chromatid cohesion or DNA damage repair. On the other hand, ATP-powered chromatin remodeling complexes act in a gene specific way to control the expression of important cell cycle regulators (Figure 1). As chromatin remodeling complexes do not bind to DNA in a sequence-specific manner, direct and indirect interactions between dedicated complex subunits and sequence-specific recruiting factors are likely responsible for the assignment of a complex to a specific task.

4. GLOBAL CHROMATIN REMODELING

4.1. DNA Replication

Replication of the genome is a complex process that involves multiple steps of chromatin modification including nucleosome mobilization for efficient origin recognition, chromatin decondensation and dissassembly at the replication fork and chromatin re-assembly and establishment of epigenetic marks on the duplicated DNA strands. Nucleosomes can block firing of a replication origin *in vivo* (23), and assembly of DNA into chromatin leads to a general inhibition of replication efficiency *in vitro* (24-26). Thus, reorganization of chromatin structure around replication origins is a prerequisite for prereplication complex formation. However, relatively little is known about the mechanisms that guide nucleosome remodeling and dissassembly at replication origins and replication forks (27).

Chromatin remodeling complexes of the SWI/SNF and ISWI families have been implicated in regulating replication origin accessibility (Figure 2). Studies in *S. cerevisiae* have shown that the SWI/SNF complex is involved in the activation of a subset of replication origins. The autonomous replicating sequence (ARS) 121 requires the presence of an intact SWI/SNF complex for full activation (28). Also in yeast, a link was observed between the RSC complex and DNA replication. RSC is the closest relative of SWI/SNF. Depletion of its Sfh subunit (the ortholog of mammalian SNF5) along with the cell-cycle regulated Rsc3 subunit resulted in a shift of cell ploidy suggesting an important role for RSC in S-phase regulation (29). *In vitro* studies with the *Drosophila*



Figure 2. The SWI/SNF, ISWI, CHD and INO80 classes of SNF2-related ATPases participate in processes that act on a genome-wide scale to preserve genome integrity at different stages of the cell cycle.

CHRAC complex, which belongs to the ISWI family of chromatin remodelers, demonstrated that CHRAC was able to remodel the nucleosomal structure at the SV40 replication origin resulting in enhanced replication initiation efficiency (26). Moreover, a recent analysis of the Epstein-Barr-virus (EBV) origin of plasmid replication (OriP) revealed a role for SNF2h (the human ISWI homolog) in the remodeling of positioned nucleosomes at OriP at the G1/S border. SNF2h-mediated remodeling at this origin appeared to facilitate histone deacetylation and MCM3 loading during early S-phase. OriP is usually active in late S-phase. Thus, the combined action of SNF2h and histone deacetylases might determine proper timing of origin firing (30). Notably, late S-phase replication of the inactive rRNA genes in mammals is dependent on the NoRC complex, which also contains the SNF2h ATPase. Overexpression of the NoRC component Tip5 in 3T3 cells led to an increase in the number of rRNA genes that were replicated late in S-phase. This shift in replication timing was accompanied by the transcriptional silencing of these rRNA genes (31). It is possible that selective recruitment of specific ATP-dependent remodelers to particular replication origins affects the timing of origin firing. Specifically, generation of either repressive or "open" chromatin conformations (by alternative action of ISWI or SWI/SNF factors) might translate into either late or early replication initiation.

4.2. Replication-coupled chromatin assembly

Nucleosome assembly requires the concerted action of histone chaperones, which bind and deliver the histones to the sites of assembly, and ATP-dependent remodeling factors, that facilitate histone loading and positioning of the nascent nucleosomes (for reviews see 32, 33). The role of histone chaperones in nucleosome reconstitution has been studied extensively *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Since a detailed overview of these studies is beyond the scope of this article, the reader is referred to a number

of excellent reviews on this topic (34-38). Here, we will briefly discuss the contribution of ATP-dependent factors to nucleosome assembly during replication. The ISWI containing complex ACF in Drosophila and the human SNF2h ATPase have both been implicated in replicationcoupled chromatin assembly (Figure 2; 39-41). Inactivation of ACF in flies led to acceleration of S-phase in syncytial embryos. Similarly, mutant larval neuroblasts exhibited a shortening in heterochromatin replication timing. These findings suggest a particular requirement for ACF for the assembly of repressive chromatin structures (39). In mammalian cells, it was found that SNF2h localizes to heterochromatic replication foci as a component of two distinct remodeling complexes. One complex contained the human ACF1 subunit, and RNAi mediated depletion of ACF1 compromised cell cycle progression (41). The other complex, termed WICH, contained the Williams syndrome transcription factor (WSTF). WSTF can interact with the DNA polymerase processivity factor PCNA and, thereby, might target SNF2h to heterochromatic replication foci (42). Collectively, these studies suggest that ISWI-related remodeling factors are critically involved in the assembly and potentially also in the remodeling of heterochromatic chromatin during replication.

It is of interest to note in this context that impairment of nucleosome assembly by ablation of the above mentioned factors does not trigger cell cycle arrest. This indicates that cells are able to tolerate a certain amount of chromatin structure perturbation. Nevertheless, the sensitivity of cells towards changes in global chromatin architecture might depend on their developmental or differentiation stage. The analysis of the biological role of Drosophila CHD1 has revealed that this factor is necessary for the reorganization of paternal pronuclear chromatin during fertilization by incorporating the histone variant H3.3. Loss of CHD1 prevents the paternal pronucleus from entering into mitosis (43). Thus, in this developmental setting, perturbation of global chromatin structure is no longer compatible with normal cell cycle progression. Likewise, the expression of a dominant-negative form of ISWI in Drosophila embryos resulted in general decondensation of chromosomes, defective spindle organization and embryonic lethality (44). It was shown in this study that polytene chromosomes isolated from Iswi mutant flies exhibited a general reduction of linker histone H1 association, suggesting a role for ISWI in the formation of higher-order chromatin structure. Despite these recent discoveries, there is still much to be learned about the functions of ATP-dependent remodeling factors in the course of chromosome duplication. For instance, no specific remodeling factor has yet been directly linked to the replication-coupled assembly of euchromatic DNA. It remains to be shown whether SWI/SNF complexes are also involved in the remodeling of metazoan origins. Moreover, it is not known, which mechanisms trigger nucleosome disruption ahead of the replication fork (45).

4.3. Chromatin remodeling factors and mitosis

Apart from their role in S-phase, ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers also affect progression through mitosis. Different classes of remodeling factors have been linked to chromosome condensation, association of cohesins, centromere assembly as well as spindle and centrosome integrity (46; Figure 2). Depletion of various RSC subunits revealed a critical role of RSC during mitosis, although the responsible mechanisms remained elusive (29). Moreover, the RSC complex has been shown to be required for the association of cohesin along the arms but not at the centromere of S. cerevisiae chromosomes. The loss of the Rsc2 subunit as well as a temperaturesensitive mutation of the catalytic Sth1 subunit resulted in premature sister chromatid separation, elevated frequency of chromosome loss and accelerated entry of yeast cells into the budding stage (47). A link to cohesin association and/or function was also observed for the human ISWI homolog SNF2h and the Mi-2 containing NuRD complex. These factors were found to co-immunoprecipitate and colocalize with the cohesin complex component Rad21 (48).

Deletion of the CHD family member Hrp1 in *S.* pombe gave rise to multiple chromosome segregation defects. Therefore, Hrp1 was suggested to function in chromosome condensation and/or in the loading of the histone H3 variant CENP-A onto centromeres (49, 50). Surprisingly, a link between centrosome function and ATPdependent chromatin remodeling factors has been uncovered recently. Sillibourne and colleagues (51) showed that CHD3/Mi-2 α and CHD4/Mi-2 β associate with pericentrin, which is a major component of the centrosome. Knock-down of CHD3/Mi-2 α by RNAi resulted in the dissociation of pericentrin from the centrosome and various mitotic defects. It remains enigmatic, however, how CHD3/4, which are chromatin remodeling factors, might function at the centrosome.

From these studies it is evident that various ATPdependent remodelers not only affect the structure of the nucleosome but that they are also intimately linked to the higher-order organization of chromosomes. As most of our knowledge about these functions stems from studies in budding yeast, it will be interesting to learn whether similar factors have similar functions in metazoans.

4.4. DNA repair

There are many different types of DNA damage ranging from base damage and mismatches to helix distortion and strand breaks. Consequently, a variety of mechanisms and pathways are at work to repair DNA damage. Their common purpose is to prevent the accumulation of mutations and/or the inhibition of important processes, such as replication and transcription. Over the past few years, great progress has been made towards an understanding of the functions of chromatin remodeling complexes in different DNA damage repair pathways. Direct involvement in DNA repair has been shown for RSC and SWI/SNF, INO80, SWR1 as well as Rad54. These factors were found to have diverse functions in repair, which include nucleosome displacement at DNA double-strand break sites (INO80), histone exchange (SWR1), nucleosome remodeling (SWI/SNF, Rad54) and facilitation of cohesin loading (RSC) at sites of DNA damage (for recent detailed reviews on remodeling factor involvement in DNA damage repair see 52-55).

Besides their direct participation in repair processes, some chromatin remodelers have also been linked to the control of DNA damage checkpoints (Figure 2). In the initial reports on INO80 function in double strand break (DSB) repair in yeast it was observed that checkpoint response was unaffected in an *ino80* mutant (56, 57). A more recent study, however, showed that *ino80* mutants are unable to undergo checkpoint adaptation (58). This phenomenon allows yeast cells that are arrested in G2 following DNA damage to overcome cell cycle arrest despite the presence of unrepairable double strand breaks. The mechanism by which INO80 might contribute to checkpoint adaptation is not known.

A link between RSC activity and DNA damage checkpoint activation was established by the analysis of mutations of the Rsc2 subunit. *Rsc2* mutants exhibited reduced phosphorylation of the histone variant H2AX at DSB sites. Consequently, the Tel1 and Mec1 kinases were not recruited efficiently to the DSB, which resulted in defective activation of the G1 checkpoint kinase Rad53 (59). Mec1/Tel1 kinases, which correspond to the mammalian ATM/ATR kinases, were also found to directly target the INO80 complex. Phosphorylation of the Ies4 subunit of the INO80 complex appears to affect complex activity and resulted in increased checkpoint response (60).

Taken together, chromatin remodeling complexes have emerged as crucial components of different DNA repair pathways. By remodeling nucleosome structure at the sites of DNA damage they facilitate recruitment of the repair machineries as well as enhance the efficiency of the repair process. Moreover, they contribute to the signaling of DNA damage and, thus, to the regulation of cell cycle progression.

5. GENE SPECIFIC FUNCTIONS OF ATP-DEPENDENT CHROMATIN REMODELING FACTORS IN CELL CYCLE REGULATION

5.1. SWI/SNF complexes and E2F target gene regulation

Numerous studies have examined the role of ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers in the transcriptional regulation of important components of the cell cycle machinery. In particular, the mammalian SWI/SNF complexes have become known as key regulators of cell proliferation and differentiation, and several complex subunits have been recognized as tumor suppressor proteins (20, 61-63). SWI/SNF complexes in mammals either contain the ATPase BRM (human brahma) or BRG1 (brahma related gene 1). BRG1 can associate with two partially overlapping sets of proteins to constitute the BAF and PBAF complexes, respectively, while BRM is only found in BAF-like complexes (19, 20, 62). Additional variation is possible within BAF-like complexes through mutually exclusive association of the ARID1A and ARID1B subunits, which are orthologs of the Drosophila Osa protein (64).

Mammalian SWI/SNF complexes have been identified as critical co-regulators at many E2F target genes



Figure 3. SWI/SNF complexes regulate activation as well as repression of E2F target genes in mammals *via* different pathways. Transcriptional repression can be achieved by direct interaction of SWI/SNF with the negative regulator Rb protein at E2F target gene promoters. Alternatively or in addition, SWI/SNF can activate the expression of cdk inhibitors and thus prevent the inactivation of Rb protein by cyclin D/cdk. For transcriptional activation of E2F target genes, SWI/SNF complexes can directly associate with activating E2F transcription factors to remodel the nucleosomal structure at the target gene.

(65, 66). Although they can positively affect cell proliferation, their activity as negative regulators of proliferation is more obvious. Accordingly, BRG1 deficient mouse embryos die early in development and mice heterozygous for a BRG1 deletion are prone to develop cancer (67). Moreover, reintroduction of BRG1 into SW-13 cells, which do not express BRG1, induces growth arrest and reversal of the transformed phenotype (68). Moran and colleagues (69-71) showed in recent studies that activating and repressive functions, respectively, of SWI/SNF complexes in cell cycle regulation depend on whether the complex contains ARID1A or ARID1B. ARID1A-specific complexes appear to exert their anti-proliferative function by direct repression of critical cell cycle regulator genes. such as cdc2, cvclin E, cvclin A or cvclin B2 (65, 66, 69). Thereby, they associate primarily with the repressor E2Fs, E2F4 and E2F5. Conversely, ARID1B-specific complexes promote cell proliferation by activating cell cycle genes in conjunction with activator E2Fs, such as E2F1 (69).

Several studies suggest that SWI/SNF complexes may act in concert with different factors to regulate E2F target genes. For instance, it was shown that repression of E2F targets correlates with the simultaneous presence at these promoters of SWI/SNF components, the Sin3a corepressor and the histone deacetylases HDAC1, HDAC2 and HDAC3 (69). Moreover, it was shown that SWI/SNF complexes directly interact with the retinoblastoma (Rb) protein to repress several E2F target genes and to induce cell cycle arrest (68, 72, 73). In addition, cell cycle dependent association of the Rb-SWI/SNF repressor complex with an HDAC was found to coordinate the sequential expression of cyclin E and cyclin A (74). Thus, SWI/SNF complexes can collaborate with E2F transcription factors to activate the respective target genes, yet they also can associate with Rb protein to repress transcription of these genes (Figure 3).

5.2. SWI/SNF and the regulation of p21^{WAF1}

SWI/SNF repressor function does not always require interaction with the Rb protein (e.g. 75, 76). Instead, SWI/SNF can regulate the activity of Rb by indirectly affecting its phosphorylation state (Figure 3). It was found that SWI/SNF contributes to the activation of the cdk inhibitor p21^{WAF1} (69, 71, 75). BRG1 overexpression resulted in the upregulation of p21^{WAF1} expression. Elevated levels of p21^{WAF1} prevented phosphorylation of Rb protein by cdk2, thereby maintaining the repression of cell cycle genes. Notably, in this study, cell cycle arrest did not require direct interaction between Rb protein and BRG1 (75). The $p21^{WAF1}$ promoter is also targeted by the p53 cell cycle regulator, and SWI/SNF has been implicated in p53-mediated regulation of p21^{WAF1}. Transfection of p53 along with SNF5 (a subunit of SWI/SNF complexes) or BRG-1 into C33A cells caused increased expression of the endogenous $p21^{WAF1}$ gene. Consistently, a physical interaction between p53 and the SWI/SNF components was observed in this system (77). These data link SWI/SNF to the p53 pathway to control cell cycle arrest. However, p21^{WAF1} expression was also induced in the absence of p53 upon overexpression of SNF5 in the breast cancer derived cell line ALAB (78). Not only transcriptional activation but also repression of the p21^{WAF1} gene seems to involve SWI/SNF complexes, albeit in an indirect way via upregulation of c-myc. SWI/SNFmediated activation of c-myc results in the inhibition of p21^{WAF1} expression (69, 71). Thus, depending on the intracellular environment, regulation of p21^{WAF1} expression can be controlled by various regulatory pathways. Yet, most of these diverse mechanisms appear to involve a SWI/SNF complex.

In contrast to the p21^{WAF1} promoter, the c-myc promoter is also a direct target for repression by SWI/SNF. Mouse embryonic fibroblasts that lack BRM exhibit elevated levels of c-myc (79). Conversely, c-myc expression is reduced in human tumor cells that overexpress BRG1 (78). This example illustrates the ability of SWI/SNF complexes to activate as well as to repress transcription of the same gene (e.g. c-myc). One explanation for this phenomenon might be that distinct SWI/SNF complexes with alternative subunit compositions are active at the promoter. However, it remains unknown how different subunits contribute to the SWI/SNF-mediated establishment of alternative chromatin conformations that either result in transcriptional repression or activation.

5.3. Distinct roles of the SNF5 subunit of SWI/SNF complexes in cell cycle regulation

SNF5 is a core subunit of all human SWI/SNF complexes and has a particularly important role in tumor suppression. Mutations of SNF5 are associated with the formation of malignant rhabdoid tumors (MRT), an aggressive type of pediatric cancer (reviewed in 19, 80). Moreover, SNF5 is absolutely required for the survival of normal cells (81). The molecular basis of SNF5-mediated cancer development was examined in a series of studies. For instance, it was shown that SNF5 inactivation in different mouse tissues leads to an upregulation of many E2F target genes (82), and that regulation by SNF5

involves the Rb pathway (83, 84). Moreover, increased p53 levels were observed in SNF5 depleted cells leading to apoptosis, polyploidy and growth arrest (85). The mechanisms responsible for the G1/G0 arrest of MRT derived cells upon reintroduction of SNF5 might involve upregulation of the $p16^{INK4a}$ tumor suppressor protein (86). However, in a different MRT line, p16^{INK4a} upregulation by SNF5 induced cellular senescence but not G1 arrest suggesting that SNF5 uses a $p16^{INK4a}$ -independent way to confer cell cycle arrest (87). $p16^{INK4a}$ is an inhibitor of cyclin D1/CDK4 kinase, which phosphorylates Rb. Hyperphosphorylation of Rb protein leads to dissociation of the protein from E2F transcription factors, resulting in the activation of E2F target genes and cell proliferation (88). Some of the E2F target genes that respond to SNF5 levels have been linked to mitotic defects and aneuploidy. Thus, it was suggested that restoration of normal ploidy in MRT cells upon reintroduction of SNF5 might be caused by re-establishment of the normal regulation of these E2F target genes. Therefore, defective SNF5 not only relieves G1/G0 arrest of the cell cycle but also causes chromosomal instability, both of which are required for cancer development (76).

Despite ample evidence that establishes SNF5 as a tumor suppressor and critical cell cycle regulator, it is not known, if SNF5 functions via SWI/SNF complexes or if it has additional activities. Furthermore, the mechanistic roles of SNF5 in the course of chromatin remodeling and/or promoter targeting of the remodeling complex are poorly understood. It will be a challenging task for the future to elucidate the specific functions of SNF5 in the remodeling of cell cycle genes to regulate their coordinate expression.

5.4. Mechanistic basis of SWI/SNF mediated cell cycle regulation

The molecular mechanisms of SWI/SNF action in these regulatory circuits have not been studied in great detail. Many in vitro reports, however, have demonstrated that SWI/SNF complexes remodel chromatin in a way that generally destabilizes chromatin structure (reviewed e.g. in 10, 12, 14, 89). For instance, SWI/SNF can increase the accessibility of restriction enzymes to nucleosomal DNA, catalyze the loss of nucleosomes and mediate the transfer of histones between DNA templates. Consistent with these activities, a recent genome-wide study of nucleosome structure in response to elimination of the RSC subunit Sth1 revealed a gain of nucleosome density at RNA polymerase III genes. Likewise, a locally more restricted gain of single nucleosomes in RNA polymerase II promoters that are RSC targets was observed in these Sth1 mutants (90).

Only few studies have so far addressed the molecular changes of promoter structure in cell-cycle regulated genes. One example is provided by the cyclin A promoter, which was shown to exhibit increased DNA accessibility upon gene activation (91). Two positioned nucleosomes that are present at the inactive promoter in quiescent mouse embryonic fibroblasts are lost upon entry of the cells into S-phase. This loss correlates with the loss of BRM from the cyclin A promoter. Likewise, increased

accessibility of promoter proximal regions was observed in BRM^{-/-} cells, which show constitutive expression of cyclin A (91). Thus, it was concluded that BRM exerts its repressive effect by maintaining the positioning of repressive nucleosomes at the cyclin A promoter. However, it should also be considered that in proliferating cells, BRG1 was found to interact with the cyclin A promoter (66, 69, 79, 92). Thus, an alternative possibility may be that the increased accessibility of promoter sequences upon cyclin A induction is caused by BRG1-mediated chromatin remodeling rather than the loss of BRM-mediated nucleosome positioning. Such a function of BRG1 was observed during STAT3-mediated activation of the p21^{WAF1} gene, when recruitment of BRG1 to the p21^{WAF1} gene promoter resulted in increased micrococcal nuclease accessibility of the promoter region (93). Hence, at the inactive cyclin A promoter, BRM might function to counteract recruitment of BRG1.

Clearly, more work has to be done to illuminate the molecular basis of gene activation and repression by SWI/SNF and to discern the relative contributions of different SWI/SNF complexes. It will be particularly interesting to delineate the molecular mechanisms by which SWI/SNF complexes confer transcriptional repression of target genes. Transcriptional repression is usually linked to the establishment of a more compacted chromatin structure (94-97). Thus, the generally observed activities of SWI/SNF to destabilize nucleosome structure do not easily explain its role in transcription repression.

6. REGULATION OF CHROMATIN REMODELING FACTORS

Compared to the wealth of information that exists about the biochemical and cellular functions of ATPdependent chromatin remodeling factors, knowledge about their own regulation is limited. Expression of the ATPase encoding genes appears to be fairly constant throughout the cell cycle. Moreover, members of the SWI/SNF, ISWI and CHD classes of remodelers are expressed across a wide range of tissues in multicellular organisms. There are, however, other mechanisms by which the activity of these regulators can be controlled. For instance, both BRM and BRG1 are phosphorylated in a cell cycle dependent manner (98, 99). Phosphorylation occurs during mitosis and results in the inactivation and redistribution into the cytoplasm of human SWI/SNF complexes (99). Dephosphorylation after exit from mitosis was found to restore remodeling activity of SWI/SNF. It is not known which enzymes are responsible for this modification. Although the MAP kinase ERK1 and phosphatase 2A, respectively, were found to phosphorylate/dephosphorylate BRG1 and BRM in vitro, in vivo evidence for this is still lacking (99). The reasons for phosphorylation-mediated inactivation of SWI/SNF during mitosis are not well understood. It was suggested that SWI/SNF activity needs to be restricted to facilitate general transcriptional inhibition during mitosis (98). On the other hand, however, the SWI/SNF complex was found to be necessary for the transcription of mitotic genes in budding yeast (100). It is possible that also in metazoans, SWI/SNF complexes are required for mitotic transcription by

counteracting local chromatin compaction. In this situation, a subset of SWI/SNF complexes might have to be protected from mitotic phosphorylation to be able to accomplish such a function.

In addition to BRG1 and BRM, several other components of human SWI/SNF complexes can be modified by phosphorylation. For instance, BAF155, BAF60 and SNF5 are targets for phosphorylation by kinases such as ERK1, protein kinase B/Akt, p38 or cyclin E/cdk2 (99, 101-103). The effects of phosphorylation by these enzymes on the remodeling activities of SWI/SNF have not been studied. Yet, it appears that the targeting of the complex to specific promoters might be affected. For example, it was shown that inhibition of p38 resulted in decreased recruitment of SWI/SNF to muscle specific regulatory elements (101).

Phosphorylation was observed to also regulate members of other classes of SNF2-related remodeling factors. The CHD-group enzyme dMi-2, which is a component of the NuRD repressor complex, is phosphorylated kinase 2 by casein (104). Dephosphorylation of dMi-2 resulted in increased nucleosome mobilization and nucleosome-stimulated ATPase activity suggesting that phosphorylation might destabilize the interaction with the nucleosome substrate (104). In contrast to human SWI/SNF, however, phosphorylation of dMi-2 does not seem to be cell cycle dependent. In the case of ATRX, a SNF2-like protein that has been associated with X-linked mental retardation syndrome accompanied by α -thalassemia (ATR-X), phosphorylation also occurs at the onset of mitosis and is hardly detectable during interphase (105). While the significance of this modification on ATRX remains elusive, phosphorylation of the INO80 complex by Mec1/Tel1 kinases has recently been linked to DNA damage checkpoint response (60; and see above).

Acetvlation is another modification that has been shown to regulate SWI/SNF activity (106). Acetylation of two lysine residues in the carboxy-terminal domain of BRM negatively affects its transactivation activity. Furthermore, substitution of these residues by arginines, which mimicks the unacetylated state, increased the growth inhibitory potential of BRM, presumably by stabilizing the interaction with Rb protein (106). Sitespecific acetylation also occurs on remodelers of the ISWI and CHD classes (107; S. Morettini and A. Lusser, unpublished observation). Acetylation of Drosophila ISWI on a lysine residue within the HAND domain of the protein by the acetyltransferase GCN5 does not result in any change in ATPase activity, and it is presently not known whether it affects the remodeling and/or targeting activities of ISWI (107). Sumovlation has been observed on the ATRX-related protein ARIP in vivo. The analysis of a sumovlation deficient mutant revealed that ARIP ATPase activity was lost and its function as a transcriptional co-activator of androgen receptor regulated genes was severely compromised (108).

Collectively, these studies suggest important roles of posttranslational modifications in the regulation of ATP-powered remodeling proteins. These regulatory marks appear to affect different aspects of remodeler function, such as direct inhibition or stimulation of catalytic activity, complex composition, complex targeting or even participation in signaling pathways. Considering the multitude of processes in which chromatin remodelers participate, it is conceivable that their activity needs to be carefully regulated. We are currently only at the beginning to understand the mechanisms that control ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling factors and their cross-talk with the cell cycle machinery.

7. PERSPECTIVES

Chromatin structural changes and cell division cycle progression are inseparable processes that constantly and reciprocally affect each other. Thus, the mechanisms and factors that catalyze chromatin modifications are key components of the cell cycle regulatory machinery. Much has been learned in recent years about the role of chromatin modifying proteins in DNA-utilizing processes, such as transcription, DNA replication or damage repair. ATPpowered chromatin remodeling complexes have emerged as co-regulators of cell cycle events acting on a genome-wide scale as well as in a gene specific manner. Yet, many intriguing and challenging questions remain to be solved. For instance, we are only at the early stages of understanding the identity and molecular functions of ATPdependent factors during the initiation of DNA replication or the removal of histones from parental DNA strands during replication. Even the reassembly of nucleosomes after replication fork passage is only partially understood. It will also be important to delineate the contribution of chromatin remodeling factors to the establishment and disruption of higher-order chromatin folding during the cell cycle.

Further research into the specific roles of SWI/SNF complexes in regulating the transcription of crucial cell cycle regulator genes should illuminate the complex ballet of association/dissociation of different SWI/SNF complexes with target promoters. Furthermore, the contribution of other remodeler classes to the regulation of cell cycle-specific gene expression has not been studied in great detail yet. In a recent report from budding yeast, the involvement of two ISWI-related proteins, Isw1 and Isw2, in transcriptional repression of the cell cycle regulator gene CLB2, which controls G2/M and M/G1 transitions, was demonstrated (109). Thus, it is likely, that also in metazoans remodelers other than SWI/SNF are at work to control cell cycle specific gene transcription. In addition, the analysis of the regulation of ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling factors by posttranslational modifications. degradation. intracellular compartmentalization and other mechanisms should aid the understanding of how chromatin remodeling factors are incorporated into cellular signaling pathways. Finally, it will be important to examine the relationship between ATP-dependent factors and other chromatin modifications,

such as covalent modifications of histones and incorporation of histone variants.

8. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank B. Campo-Fernandez, D. Fyodorov, J. Kadonaga and P. Loidl for comments on the manuscript. Research in the authors' lab is supported by grants from the Austrian Science Foundation (START Y275-B12) and the Center for Integrated Research and Therapy of the Innsbruck Medical University (IFTZ 16).

9. REFERENCES

1. Vaquero, A., A. Loyola & D. Reinberg: The constantly changing face of chromatin. *Sci Aging Knowledge Environ*, 2003, RE4 (2003)

2. Peterson, C. L. & M. A. Laniel: Histones and histone modifications. *Curr Biol*, 14, R546-51 (2004)

3. Jenuwein, T. & C. D. Allis: Translating the histone code. *Science*, 293, 1074-80. (2001)

4. Turner, B. M.: Defining an epigenetic code. *Nat Cell Biol*, 9, 2-6 (2007)

5. Bernstein, E. & S. B. Hake: The nucleosome: a little variation goes a long way. *Biochem Cell Biol*, 84, 505-17 (2006)

6. Jin, J., Y. Cai, B. Li, R. C. Conaway, J. L. Workman, J. W. Conaway & T. Kusch: In and out: histone variant exchange in chromatin. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 30, 680-7 (2005)

7. Hock, R., T. Furusawa, T. Ueda & M. Bustin: HMG chromosomal proteins in development and disease. *Trends Cell Biol*, 17, 72-9 (2007)

8. Henikoff, S. & K. Ahmad: Assembly of variant histones into chromatin. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*, 21, 133-53 (2005)

9. Kornberg, R. D. & Y. Lorch: Chromatin-modifying and remodeling complexes. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 9, 148-151 (1999)

10. Peterson, C. L. & J. L. Workman: Promoter targeting and chromatin remodeling by the SWI/SNF complex. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 10, 187-92 (2000)

11. Kingston, R. E. & G. J. Narlikar: ATP-dependent remodeling and acetylation as regulators of chromatin fluidity. *Genes Dev*, 13, 2339-52 (1999)

12. Becker, P. B. & W. Horz: ATP-dependent nucleosome remodeling. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 71, 247-73 (2002)

13. Eberharter, A. & P. B. Becker: ATP-dependent nucleosome remodelling: factors and functions. *J Cell Sci*, 117, 3707-11 (2004)

14. Lusser, A. & J. T. Kadonaga: Chromatin remodeling by ATP-dependent molecular machines. *Bioessays*, 25, 1192-200 (2003)

15. Luger, K. & T. J. Richmond: DNA binding within the nucleosome core. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, 8, 33-40 (1998)

16. Eisen, J. A., K. S. Sweder & P. C. Hanawalt: Evolution of the SNF2 family of proteins: subfamilies with distinct sequences and functions. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 23, 2715-23. (1995)

17. Gorbalenya, A. E.: Helicases: amino acid sequence comparisons and structure-function relationships. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, 3, 419-429 (1993)

18. Flaus, A., D. M. Martin, G. J. Barton & T. Owen-Hughes: Identification of multiple distinct Snf2 subfamilies with conserved structural motifs. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 34, 2887-905 (2006)

19. Roberts, C. W. & S. H. Orkin: The SWI/SNF complex-chromatin and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 4, 133-42 (2004)

20. Mohrmann, L. & C. P. Verrijzer: Composition and functional specificity of SWI2/SNF2 class chromatin remodeling complexes. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1681, 59-73 (2005)

21. Hassan, A. H., K. E. Neely, M. Vignali, J. C. Reese & J. L. Workman: Promoter targeting of chromatin-modifying complexes. *Front Biosci*, 6, D1054-64 (2001)

22. Hogan, C. & P. Varga-Weisz: The regulation of ATPdependent nucleosome remodelling factors. *Mutat Res*, 618, 41-51 (2007)

23. Simpson, R. T.: Nucleosome positioning can affect the function of a cis-acting DNA element *in vivo. Nature*, 343, 387-9 (1990)

24. Cheng, L. Z., J. L. Workman, R. E. Kingston & T. J. Kelly: Regulation of DNA replication *in vitro* by the transcriptional activation domain of GAL4-VP16. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 89, 589-93 (1992)

25. Li, R. & M. R. Botchan: Acidic transcription factors alleviate nucleosome-mediated repression of DNA replication of bovine papillomavirus type 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91, 7051-5 (1994)

26. Alexiadis, V., P. D. Varga-Weisz, E. Bonte, P. B. Becker & C. Gruss: *In vitro* chromatin remodelling by chromatin accessibility complex (CHRAC) at the SV40 origin of DNA replication. *Embo J*, 17, 3428-38 (1998)

27. Fyodorov, D. V. & J. T. Kadonaga: The many faces of chromatin remodeling: SWItching beyond transcription. *Cell*, 106, 523-5. (2001)

28. Flanagan, J. F. & C. L. Peterson: A role for the yeast SWI/SNF complex in DNA replication. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 27, 2022-2028 (1999)

29. Campsteijn, C., A. M. Wijnands-Collin & C. Logie: Reverse genetic analysis of the yeast RSC chromatin remodeler reveals a role for RSC3 and SNF5 homolog 1 in ploidy maintenance. *PLoS Genet*, 3, e92 (2007)

30. Zhou, J., C. M. Chau, Z. Deng, R. Shiekhattar, M. P. Spindler, A. Schepers & P. M. Lieberman: Cell cycle regulation of chromatin at an origin of DNA replication. *Embo J*, 24, 1406-17 (2005)

31. Li, J., R. Santoro, K. Koberna & I. Grummt: The chromatin remodeling complex NoRC controls replication timing of rRNA genes. *Embo J*, 24, 120-7 (2005)

32. Lusser, A. & J. T. Kadonaga: Strategies for the reconstitution of chromatin. *Nature Meth*, 1, 19-26 (2004)

33. Haushalter, K. A. & J. T. Kadonaga: Chromatin assembly by DNA-translocating motors. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 4, 613-20 (2003)

34. Linger, J. G. & J. K. Tyler: Chromatin disassembly and reassembly during DNA repair. *Mutat Res*, 618, 52-64 (2007)

35. Polo, S. E. & G. Almouzni: Chromatin assembly: a basic recipe with various flavours. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 16, 104-11 (2006)

36. De Koning, L., A. Corpet, J. E. Haber & G. Almouzni: Histone chaperones: an escort network regulating histone traffic. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 14, 997-1007 (2007) 37. Tyler, J. K.: Chromatin assembly. Cooperation between histone chaperones and ATP-dependent nucleosome remodeling machines. *Eur J Biochem*, 269, 2268-74 (2002) 38. Loyola, A. & G. Almouzni: Histone chaperones, a supporting role in the limelight. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1677, 3-11 (2004)

39. Fyodorov, D. V., M. D. Blower, G. H. Karpen & J. T. Kadonaga: Acfl confers unique activities to ACF/CHRAC and promotes the formation rather than disruption of chromatin *in vivo. Genes Dev*, 18, 170-83 (2004)

40. Bozhenok, L., P. A. Wade & P. Varga-Weisz: WSTF-ISWI chromatin remodeling complex targets heterochromatic replication foci. *Embo J*, 21, 2231-41 (2002)

41. Collins, N., R. A. Poot, I. Kukimoto, C. Garcia-Jimenez, G. Dellaire & P. D. Varga-Weisz: An ACF1-ISWI chromatin-remodeling complex is required for DNA replication through heterochromatin. *Nat Genet*, 32, 627-32 (2002)

42. Poot, R. A., L. Bozhenok, D. L. van den Berg, S. Steffensen, F. Ferreira, M. Grimaldi, N. Gilbert, J. Ferreira & P. D. Varga-Weisz: The Williams syndrome transcription factor interacts with PCNA to target chromatin remodelling by ISWI to replication foci. *Nat Cell Biol*, 6, 1236-44 (2004)

43. Konev, A. Y., M. Tribus, S. Y. Park, V. Podhraski, C. Y. Lim, A. V. Emelyanov, E. Vershilova, V. Pirrotta, J. T. Kadonaga, A. Lusser & D. V. Fyodorov: CHD1 motor protein is required for deposition of histone variant H3.3 into chromatin *in vivo. Science*, 317, 1087-90 (2007)

44. Corona, D. F., G. Siriaco, J. A. Armstrong, N. Snarskaya, S. A. McClymont, M. P. Scott & J. W. Tamkun: ISWI regulates higher-order chromatin structure and histone H1 assembly *in vivo. PLoS Biol*, 5, e232 (2007)

45. Groth, A., A. Corpet, A. J. Cook, D. Roche, J. Bartek, J. Lukas & G. Almouzni: Regulation of replication fork progression through histone supply and demand. *Science*, 318, 1928-31 (2007)

46. van Vugt, J. J., M. Ranes, C. Campsteijn & C. Logie: The ins and outs of ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling in budding yeast: biophysical and proteomic perspectives. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1769, 153-71 (2007)

47. Huang, J., J. M. Hsu & B. C. Laurent: The RSC nucleosome-remodeling complex is required for Cohesin's association with chromosome arms. *Mol Cell*, 13, 739-50 (2004)

48. Hakimi, M. A., D. A. Bochar, J. A. Schmiesing, Y. Dong, O. G. Barak, D. W. Speicher, K. Yokomori & R. Shiekhattar: A chromatin remodelling complex that loads cohesin onto human chromosomes. *Nature*, 418, 994-8 (2002)

49. Walfridsson, J., P. Bjerling, M. Thalen, E. J. Yoo, S. D. Park & K. Ekwall: The CHD remodeling factor Hrp1 stimulates CENP-A loading to centromeres. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 33, 2868-79 (2005)

50. Yoo, E. J., Y. H. Jin, Y. K. Jang, P. Bjerling, M. Tabish, S. H. Hong, K. Ekwall & S. D. Park: Fission yeast hrp1, a chromodomain ATPase, is required for proper chromosome segregation and its overexpression interferes with chromatin condensation. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 28, 2004-11 (2000)

51. Sillibourne, J. E., B. Delaval, S. Redick, M. Sinha & S. J. Doxsey: Chromatin remodeling proteins interact with pericentrin to regulate centrosome integrity. *Mol Biol Cell*, 18, 3667-80 (2007)

52. Wong, L. Y., J. Recht & B. C. Laurent: Chromatin remodeling and repair of DNA double-strand breaks. *J Mol Histol*, 37, 261-9 (2006)

53. Bao, Y. & X. Shen: Chromatin remodeling in DNA double-strand break repair. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 17, 126-31 (2007)

54. Bao, Y. & X. Shen: INO80 subfamily of chromatin remodeling complexes. *Mutat Res*, 618, 18-29 (2007)

55. Osley, M. A., T. Tsukuda & J. A. Nickoloff: ATPdependent chromatin remodeling factors and DNA damage repair. *Mutat Res*, 618, 65-80 (2007)

56. Morrison, A. J., J. Highland, N. J. Krogan, A. Arbel-Eden, J. F. Greenblatt, J. E. Haber & X. Shen: INO80 and gamma-H2AX interaction links ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling to DNA damage repair. *Cell*, 119, 767-75 (2004)

57. van Attikum, H., O. Fritsch, B. Hohn & S. M. Gasser: Recruitment of the INO80 complex by H2A phosphorylation links ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling with DNA double-strand break repair. *Cell*, 119, 777-88 (2004)

58. Papamichos-Chronakis, M., J. E. Krebs & C. L. Peterson: Interplay between Ino80 and Swr1 chromatin remodeling enzymes regulates cell cycle checkpoint adaptation in response to DNA damage. *Genes Dev*, 20, 2437-49 (2006)

59. Liang, B., J. Qiu, K. Ratnakumar & B. C. Laurent: RSC functions as an early double-strand-break sensor in the cell's response to DNA damage. *Curr Biol*, 17, 1432-7 (2007)

60. Morrison, A. J., J. A. Kim, M. D. Person, J. Highland, J. Xiao, T. S. Wehr, S. Hensley, Y. Bao, J. Shen, S. R. Collins, J. S. Weissman, J. Delrow, N. J. Krogan, J. E. Haber & X. Shen: Mec1/Tel1 phosphorylation of the INO80 chromatin remodeling complex influences DNA damage checkpoint responses. *Cell*, 130, 499-511 (2007)

61. Klochendler-Yeivin, A., C. Muchardt & M. Yaniv: SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling and cancer. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 12, 73-9 (2002)

62. Muchardt, C. & M. Yaniv: When the SWI/SNF complex remodels...the cell cycle. *Oncogene*, 20, 3067-75 (2001)

63. Simone, C.: SWI/SNF: the crossroads where extracellular signaling pathways meet chromatin. *J Cell Physiol*, 207, 309-14 (2006)

64. Wang, X., N. G. Nagl, D. Wilsker, M. Van Scoy, S. Pacchione, P. Yaciuk, P. B. Dallas & E. Moran: Two related ARID family proteins are alternative subunits of human SWI/SNF complexes. *Biochem J*, 383, 319-25 (2004)

65. Zhang, Z. K., K. P. Davies, J. Allen, L. Zhu, R. G. Pestell, D. Zagzag & G. V. Kalpana: Cell cycle arrest and repression of cyclin D1 transcription by INI1/hSNF5. *Mol Cell Biol*, 22, 5975-88 (2002)

66. Kadam, S. & B. M. Emerson: Transcriptional specificity of human SWI/SNF BRG1 and BRM chromatin remodeling complexes. *Mol Cell*, 11, 377-89 (2003)

67. Bultman, S., T. Gebuhr, D. Yee, C. La Mantia, J. Nicholson, A. Gilliam, F. Randazzo, D. Metzger, P. Chambon, G. Crabtree & T. Magnuson: A Brg1 null mutation in the mouse reveals functional differences among mammalian SWI/SNF complexes. *Mol Cell*, 6, 1287-95 (2000)

68. Dunaief, J. L., B. E. Strober, S. Guha, P. A. Khavari, K. Alin, J. Luban, M. Begemann, G. R. Crabtree & S. P. Goff: The retinoblastoma protein and BRG1 form a complex and cooperate to induce cell cycle arrest. *Cell*, 79, 119-30 (1994)

69. Nagl, N. G., Jr., X. Wang, A. Patsialou, M. Van Scoy & E. Moran: Distinct mammalian SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complexes with opposing roles in cell-cycle control. *Embo J*, 26, 752-63 (2007)

70. Nagl, N. G., Jr., D. R. Zweitzig, B. Thimmapaya, G. R. Beck, Jr. & E. Moran: The c-myc gene is a direct target of mammalian SWI/SNF-related complexes during differentiation-associated cell cycle arrest. *Cancer Res*, 66, 1289-93 (2006)

71. Nagl, N. G., Jr., A. Patsialou, D. S. Haines, P. B. Dallas, G. R. Beck, Jr. & E. Moran: The p270 (ARID1A/SMARCF1) subunit of mammalian SWI/SNF-related complexes is essential for normal cell cycle arrest. *Cancer Res*, 65, 9236-44 (2005)

72. Strober, B. E., J. L. Dunaief, Guha & S. P. Goff: Functional interactions between the hBRM/hBRG1 transcriptional activators and the pRB family of proteins. *Mol Cell Biol*, 16, 1576-83 (1996)

73. Trouche, D., C. Le Chalony, C. Muchardt, M. Yaniv & T. Kouzarides: RB and hbrm cooperate to repress the activation functions of E2F1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 11268-73 (1997)

74. Zhang, H. S., M. Gavin, A. Dahiya, A. A. Postigo, D. Ma, R. X. Luo, J. W. Harbour & D. C. Dean: Exit from G1 and S phase of the cell cycle is regulated by repressor complexes containing HDAC-Rb-hSWI/SNF and Rb-hSWI/SNF. *Cell*, 101, 79-89 (2000)

75. Kang, H., K. Cui & K. Zhao: BRG1 controls the activity of the retinoblastoma protein via regulation of p21CIP1/WAF1/SDI. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24, 1188-99 (2004)

76. Vries, R. G., V. Bezrookove, L. M. Zuijderduijn, S. K. Kia, A. Houweling, I. Oruetxebarria, A. K. Raap & C. P. Verrijzer: Cancer-associated mutations in chromatin remodeler hSNF5 promote chromosomal instability by compromising the mitotic checkpoint. *Genes Dev*, 19, 665-70 (2005)

77. Lee, D., J. W. Kim, T. Seo, S. G. Hwang, E. J. Choi & J. Choe: SWI/SNF complex interacts with tumor suppressor p53 and is necessary for the activation of p53-mediated transcription. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 22330-7 (2002)

78. Hendricks, K. B., F. Shanahan & E. Lees: Role for BRG1 in cell cycle control and tumor suppression. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24, 362-76 (2004)

79. Coisy-Quivy, M., O. Disson, V. Roure, C. Muchardt, J. M. Blanchard & J. C. Dantonel: Role for Brm in cell growth control. *Cancer Res*, 66, 5069-76 (2006)

80. Imbalzano, A. N. & S. N. Jones: Snf5 tumor suppressor couples chromatin remodeling, checkpoint control, and chromosomal stability. *Cancer Cell*, 7, 294-5 (2005)

81. Roberts, C. W., M. M. Leroux, M. D. Fleming & S. H. Orkin: Highly penetrant, rapid tumorigenesis through

conditional inversion of the tumor suppressor gene Snf5. Cancer Cell, 2, 415-25 (2002)

82. Gresh, L., B. Bourachot, A. Reimann, B. Guigas, L. Fiette, S. Garbay, C. Muchardt, L. Hue, M. Pontoglio, M. Yaniv & A. Klochendler-Yeivin: The SWI/SNF chromatinremodeling complex subunit SNF5 is essential for hepatocyte differentiation. *Embo J*, 24, 3313-24 (2005)

83. Betz, B. L., M. W. Strobeck, D. N. Reisman, E. S. Knudsen & B. E. Weissman: Re-expression of hSNF5/INII/BAF47 in pediatric tumor cells leads to G1 arrest associated with induction of p16ink4a and activation of RB. *Oncogene*, 21, 5193-203 (2002)

84. Guidi, C. J., R. Mudhasani, K. Hoover, A. Koff, I. Leav, A. N. Imbalzano & S. N. Jones: Functional interaction of the retinoblastoma and Ini1/Snf5 tumor suppressors in cell growth and pituitary tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res*, 66, 8076-82 (2006)

85. Isakoff, M. S., C. G. Sansam, P. Tamayo, A. Subramanian, J. A. Evans, C. M. Fillmore, X. Wang, J. A. Biegel, S. L. Pomeroy, J. P. Mesirov & C. W. Roberts: Inactivation of the Snf5 tumor suppressor stimulates cell cycle progression and cooperates with p53 loss in oncogenic transformation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 17745-50 (2005)

86. Oruetxebarria, I., F. Venturini, T. Kekarainen, A. Houweling, L. M. Zuijderduijn, A. Mohd-Sarip, R. G. Vries, R. C. Hoeben & C. P. Verrijzer: P16INK4a is required for hSNF5 chromatin remodeler-induced cellular senescence in malignant rhabdoid tumor cells. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 3807-16 (2004)

87. Chai, J., A. L. Charboneau, B. L. Betz & B. E. Weissman: Loss of the hSNF5 gene concomitantly inactivates p21CIP/WAF1 and p16INK4a activity associated with replicative senescence in A204 rhabdoid tumor cells. *Cancer Res*, 65, 10192-8 (2005)

88. Stevaux, O. & N. J. Dyson: A revised picture of the E2F transcriptional network and RB function. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 14, 684-91 (2002)

89. Workman, J. L. & R. E. Kingston: Alteration of nucleosome structure as a mechanism of transcriptional regulation. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 67, 545-79 (1998)

90. Parnell, T. J., J. T. Huff & B. R. Cairns: RSC regulates nucleosome positioning at Pol II genes and density at Pol III genes. *Embo J*, 27, 100-10 (2008)

91. Coisy, M., V. Roure, M. Ribot, A. Philips, C. Muchardt, J. M. Blanchard & J. C. Dantonel: Cyclin A repression in quiescent cells is associated with chromatin remodeling of its promoter and requires Brahma/SNF2alpha. *Mol Cell*, 15, 43-56 (2004)

92. Dahiya, A., S. Wong, S. Gonzalo, M. Gavin & D. C. Dean: Linking the Rb and polycomb pathways. *Mol Cell*, 8, 557-69 (2001)

93. Giraud, S., A. Hurlstone, S. Avril & O. Coqueret: Implication of BRG1 and cdk9 in the STAT3-mediated activation of the p21waf1 gene. *Oncogene*, 23, 7391-8 (2004)

94. Boeger, H., J. Griesenbeck, J. S. Strattan & R. D. Kornberg: Removal of promoter nucleosomes by disassembly rather than sliding *in vivo*. *Mol Cell*, 14, 667-73 (2004)

95. Boeger, H., J. Griesenbeck, J. S. Strattan & R. D. Kornberg: Nucleosomes unfold completely at a

transcriptionally active promoter. *Mol Cell*, 11, 1587-98 (2003)

96. Schmid, A., K. D. Fascher & W. Horz: Nucleosome disruption at the yeast PHO5 promoter upon PHO5 induction occurs in the absence of DNA replication. *Cell*, 71, 853-64 (1992)

97. Adkins, M. W., S. R. Howar & J. K. Tyler: Chromatin disassembly mediated by the histone chaperone Asf1 is essential for transcriptional activation of the yeast PHO5 and PHO8 genes. *Mol Cell*, 14, 657-66 (2004)

98. Muchardt, C., J. C. Reyes, B. Bourachot, E. Leguoy & M. Yaniv: The hbrm and BRG-1 proteins, components of the human SNF/SWI complex, are phosphorylated and excluded from the condensed chromosomes during mitosis. *Embo J*, 15, 3394-402 (1996)

99. Sif, S., P. T. Stukenberg, M. W. Kirschner & R. E. Kingston: Mitotic inactivation of a human SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex. *Genes Dev*, 12, 2842-51 (1998)

100. Krebs, J. E., C. J. Fry, M. L. Samuels & C. L. Peterson: Global role for chromatin remodeling enzymes in mitotic gene expression. *Cell*, 102, 587-98 (2000)

101. Simone, C., S. V. Forcales, D. A. Hill, A. N. Imbalzano, L. Latella & P. L. Puri: p38 pathway targets SWI-SNF chromatin-remodeling complex to muscle-specific loci. *Nat Genet*, 36, 738-43 (2004)

102. Foster, K. S., W. J. McCrary, J. S. Ross & C. F. Wright: Members of the hSWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex associate with and are phosphorylated by protein kinase B/Akt. *Oncogene*, 25, 4605-12 (2006)

103. Shanahan, F., W. Seghezzi, D. Parry, D. Mahony & E. Lees: Cyclin E associates with BAF155 and BRG1, components of the mammalian SWI-SNF complex, and alters the ability of BRG1 to induce growth arrest. *Mol Cell Biol*, 19, 1460-9 (1999)

104. Bouazoune, K. & A. Brehm: dMi-2 chromatin binding and remodeling activities are regulated by dCK2 phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 41912-20 (2005)

105. Berube, N. G., C. A. Smeenk & D. J. Picketts: Cell cycle-dependent phosphorylation of the ATRX protein correlates with changes in nuclear matrix and chromatin association. *Hum Mol Genet*, 9, 539-47 (2000)

106. Bourachot, B., M. Yaniv & C. Muchardt: Growth inhibition by the mammalian SWI-SNF subunit Brm is regulated by acetylation. *Embo J*, 22, 6505-15 (2003)

107. Ferreira, R., A. Eberharter, T. Bonaldi, M. Chioda, A. Imhof & P. B. Becker: Site-specific acetylation of ISWI by GCN5. *BMC Mol Biol*, 8, 73 (2007)

108. Domanskyi, A., K. T. Virtanen, J. J. Palvimo & O. A. Janne: Biochemical characterization of androgen receptorinteracting protein 4. *Biochem J*, 393, 789-95 (2006)

109. Sherriff, J. A., N. A. Kent & J. Mellor: The Isw2 chromatin-remodeling ATPase cooperates with the Fkh2 transcription factor to repress transcription of the B-type cyclin gene CLB2. *Mol Cell Biol*, 27, 2848-60 (2007)

Abbreviations: ACF: ATP-utilizing chromatin assembly and remodeling factor; ARIP: androgen receptor interacting protein; CHD: chromodomain-helicase-DNA binding domain; CLB2: cyclin B2; CHRAC: chromatin accessibility complex; ISWI: imitation switch; NoRC: nucleolar-remodeling complex; NuRD: nucleosome remodeling and deacetylase; RSC: remodels the structure of chromatin; SNF2: sucrose non fermenting 2; Swi2: switch 2; SWR1: Swi2/Snf2 related 1; WICH: WSTF-ISWI chromatin-remodeling complex;

Key Words: Chromatin, Chromatin Remodeling Factors, Cell Cycle, SWI/SNF, Cancer, DNA Replication, DNA Damage, Cdk Inhibitor, Retinoblastoma Protein, Transcription, Review

Send correspondence to: Alexandra Lusser, Division of Molecular Biology, Biocenter, Innsbruck Medical University, Fritz-Pregl Strasse 3, A-6020 Innsbruck; Tel: 43512-9003-70210, Fax: 43512-9003-73100, E-mail: Alexandra.lusser@i-med.ac.at

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol13.htm